Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect

ELSEVIER

Review

Clinical Biochemistry

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/clinbiochem

Calcium and bone

Kun Zhu *, Richard L. Prince

Department of Endocrinology and Diabetes, Sir Charles Gairdner Hospital, Perth, WA, Australia School of Medicine and Pharmacology, University of Western Australia, Perth, WA, Australia

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 23 December 2011 Received in revised form 4 May 2012 Accepted 8 May 2012 Available online 17 May 2012

Keywords: Calcium intake Calcium supplementation Bone mineral density Peak bone mass Fracture Children Adolescents Older people

ABSTRACT

Objective: Evaluate the role of calcium on bone health.

Methods: Review of literatures on calcium and bone development during childhood and bone health in adulthood and older age.

CLINICAL BIOCHEMISTRY

Results: Calcium intake influences skeletal calcium retention during growth and thus affects peak bone mass achieved in early adulthood. Increased calcium intake is associated with increased bone mineral accretion rate up to a threshold level in all ethnic groups. The minimum intake to achieve maximal retention is 1140 mg/day for white boys and 1300 mg/day for white girls. Calcium also plays a role in preventing bone loss and osteoporotic fractures in later life. Meta-analyses report that calcium supplementation reduce bone loss by 0.5–1.2% and the risk of fracture of all types by at least 10% in older people. Low calcium intake is a widespread problem across countries and age groups.

Conclusion: Adequate calcium intake throughout lifetime is important for bone health and the prevention of osteoporosis and related fractures.

© 2012 The Canadian Society of Clinical Chemists. Published by Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

Contents

Introduction	937 937
Calcium and dairy intake and bone mineral accretion	937
Calcium retention in children and adolescents in cross-cultural studies	937
Calcium and bone in young adults	937
Calcium and bone in older age	938
The effect of calcium in preventing bone loss	938
The effects of calcium in preventing fracture	938
Calcium and hip fracture risk	938
Meeting calcium requirement	939
Calcium intake in children and older adults.	939
Children and adolescents	939
Older people.	939
Intestinal factors affecting intestinal calcium absorption	939
Lactose	939
	939
	939
	940
Calcium supplementation	940 0/0
	940 9/1
References C	941
	5 11

* Corresponding author at: Department of Endocrinology and Diabetes, Sir Charles Gairdner Hospital, Nedlands, WA 6009, Australia. Fax: +61 8 9346 1317. *E-mail addresses*: kun.zhu@uwa.edu.au (K. Zhu), richard.prince@uwa.edu.au (R.L. Prince).

Introduction

The adult human body contains around 1 kg calcium on average, more than 99% of which exists in bone and teeth. In bone, calcium exists in mineral form as hydroxyapatite $[Ca_{10}(PO_4)_6(OH)_2]$. Calcium influences bone strength through its effect on bone mass. Calcium intake is one of the important modifiable environmental factors for the normal development of the skeleton during growth and the maintenance of bone mass in later life.

Calcium and bone development during childhood and adolescence

Calcium and dairy intake and bone mineral accretion

Bone mineral accretion during growth is a major determinant of peak bone mass, which is associated with the risk of developing osteoporosis in older age. The peri-pubertal and pubertal years are a critical period for bone mineral accretion, with around 39% of young adult total body bone mineral gained in the 4 years surrounding peak height velocity [1]. Many factors, including genetics, gender, endocrine and nutritional factors influence the attainment of peak bone mass. Most epidemiologic and randomised studies of calcium intake have been undertaken in subjects with diets adequate in other nutrients such as protein, carbohydrate and fat.

Calcium intake influences skeletal calcium retention during bone growth and thus plays a role in peak bone mass achieved in early adulthood. Longitudinal studies in Canadian boys [2] and Chinese girls [3] have shown that calcium intake was a minor but significant predictor of total body bone mass. Inadequate calcium intake during growing period could compromise peak bone mass attained at skeletal maturity and thus predispose individuals to increased risk of osteoporotic fracture in later life. A study of 3251 Caucasian women from the third American National Health and Nutrition Examination survey showed that women with low milk intake during childhood and adolescence had low bone density in adulthood and greater risk of fracture [4]. In addition, low bone mass may also contribute to childhood fracture. A report in New Zealand children showed that those who avoided cow's milk had 1.7 times higher risk for pre-pubertal fracture [5].

The majority of intervention studies with dairy foods or calcium supplement in children and adolescents from different ethnic backgrounds have shown positive effects on bone mineral accretion at one or more of the sites measured [6-12]. Two meta-analyses evaluated the effects of calcium supplementation on bone mass in children. The first meta-analysis which included 19 studies (n = 2859) showed that calcium supplementation had a significant effect on total body bone mineral content (BMC) (standardised mean difference 0.14, 95% CI 0.01-0.27) and forearm bone mineral density (BMD) (0.14, 95% CI 0.04-0.24), but no effect on BMD at the femoral neck or lumbar spine [13]. The other meta-analysis included 12 randomized controlled trials of calcium or dairy intervention (n = 2460) and showed that there was no significant effect on total body BMC in the overall analysis [14]. However, as the data demonstrated statistical heterogeneity, further analysis by pooling the 3 studies in subjects with low calcium intakes of 450–750 mg/day demonstrated that calcium or dairy intervention led to a 50 g (95% CI 24-77 g) (1-3%) higher total body bone mineral accretion [14]. A few studies also followed up the study participants for a further 1-3.5 years to investigate whether the effects of short-term intervention could be maintained after the withdrawal of the supplement. While some studies showed that the effect was maintained [15–17], others did not [18-20]. The reason for the differences in findings could be due to study participants' habitual calcium intake, pubertal status and the form of intervention.

Most of the calcium or dairy intervention studies were for 2 years or less. The only long-term study evaluated the effects of 7-year calcium supplementation in American girls aged 10.9 years at baseline. This study showed that calcium supplementation had a significant positive influence on bone mineral accretion during the pubertal growth spurt, but the effects were diminished in late adolescence. This suggested that BMD could catch up during the bone consolidation phase to compensate for the compromised bone mineral accretion during the growth spurt because of inadequate calcium intake. However, this study also demonstrated that subjects with low calcium intake may not have complete catch up and thus may not achieve their target peak bone mass [21].

In summary, epidemiological studies showed that milk and calcium intake are related to bone mineral accretion during growth, childhood fracture and bone density at adulthood. Intervention studies showed positive effects of calcium and dairy on bone mineral accretion, particularly in populations with low habitual calcium consumption. However, whether these effects could reduce childhood fracture is uncertain, and whether the effects could be translated into high bone density in adulthood seems related to subjects' characteristics (habitual calcium intake, pubertal stage).

Calcium retention in children and adolescents in cross-cultural studies

The calcium retention efficiency during growth varies among ethnic groups. One study comparing American black and white girls showed that the skeletal calcium retention of black girls was 185 mg/d higher compared to white girls, and that black children had significantly greater net calcium absorption and lower urinary calcium excretion [22]. Chinese children with low habitual calcium intake also have higher calcium retention efficiency compared to Caucasian children. In a longitudinal study of Chinese girls, the calculated apparent calcium retention efficiency was 41% with average calcium intake of 444 mg/day [3], which is greater than the apparent retention efficiency of 30% at peak bone mineral accretion in white Canadian girls with average calcium intake of 1000 mg/day [23]. A calcium balance study in Chinese adolescents aged 12–17 years old with calcium intakes ranging from 352 to 1260 mg/day (diet + supplementation) showed that the apparent calcium absorption rate was 68.7% in boys and 46.4% in girls [24].

Although black children had higher skeletal calcium retention, for each unit of increase in calcium intake black and white children absorb and retain the same amount of calcium (29). Similarly, a calcium balance study in Chinese adolescents showed that in girls, calcium retention increased from 80 mg to 355 mg per day when calcium intake increased from 352 mg to 1260 mg per day, and in boys calcium retention increased from 243 mg to 646 mg per day when calcium intake increased from 427 mg to 1323 mg per day [24]. These data together indicate that despite the differences in habitual calcium intake and calcium retention efficiency, within each ethnic group increased calcium intake is associated with increased bone mineral accretion up to a threshold level.

Calcium requirement during growth can be defined as the intake needed to attain the individual's genetically programmed optimal bone mass. Balance studies of calcium retention in white boys and girls at different levels of calcium intake (700–2100 mg/day) showed that calcium retention plateaus at a certain level of intake. The minimum intake to achieve maximal retention has been reported to be 1140 and 1300 mg/day in white boys and girls, respectively [25,26]. Compared to their white counterparts, the calcium intake needed for achieving maximal calcium retention is significantly lower in Chinese American girls (970 mg/day) and slightly lower in Chinese boys (1100 mg/day) [27]. This could be related to the higher retention efficiency of Chinese children.

Calcium and bone in young adults

A longitudinal study of Canadian boys and girls followed up to 30 years of age showed that total body BMC reached a plateau at 18 years of age in girls and 20 years in boys [1], indicating that peak bone mass is achieved around the age of 20. Once peak bone mass

is achieved, it is maintained without much change for 10 to 20 years. Few studies have evaluated the association between calcium intake and bone density in young adults. One study with young Japanese women and another with 125 young female cross-country runners showed a positive association between calcium intake and bone density [28,29]. Calcium requirement in this period is 20–30% lower compared to the fast growing period, as bone development has completed.

Calcium and bone in older age

From middle age, the age related bone loss in both male and female is approximately 0.5–1.0% per year [30]. For 5–10 years during and after menopause, women lose bone more rapidly than men, at a rate of 2–3% per year. This is mostly due to the deficiency of estrogen at menopause which leads to decreased intestinal calcium absorption and renal calcium re-absorption and increased parathyroid hormone (PTH) secretion and bone resorption [31–37].



Fig. 1. Cox's proportional hazard analysis of the time to first incident fracture in 1,460 older Australian women who received 1,200 mg calcium or identical placebo per day (reproduced from Arch Intern Med 2006;166:873 [45] with permission of the American Medical Association. Copyright © (2006) American Medical Association. All rights reserved.).

The effect of calcium in preventing bone loss

A number of randomized controlled trials (RCTs) have examined the effects of increased calcium intake on bone mineral density as assessed by dual energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA). These trials have shown that in older people with a baseline calcium intake of 500–1000 mg/day, increasing the intake by a further 500–1200 mg/day with or without vitamin D can prevent bone loss, possibly due to the effect of calcium in suppressing PTH secretion [36,38-41]. In a metaanalysis that included 23 trials of 41,419 subjects, calcium or calcium and vitamin D supplementation was associated with 0.5% reduction in hip bone loss and 1.2% reduction in spine bone loss [42]. Most of the studies on calcium and bone density were conducted in older women or both women and men. The few studies in men alone showed similar effects of calcium supplementation in maintaining bone mass. In a 2year RCT in healthy men aged over 40 years, the group that received 1200 mg calcium per day had 1-1.5% greater increase in spine and hip BMD compared to the placebo group [43].

Vitamin D may add extra beneficial effects to calcium supplementation in slowing bone loss. In a 5-year study of older Australian women, who were randomized to receive either 1200 mg/day calcium alone, 1200 mg/day calcium and 1000 IU/day vitamin D or placebo, bone loss was prevented in both treatment groups but not the placebo group at year one. However, the effect was only maintained in the group that received both calcium and vitamin D at 3 and 5 years [44].

The effects of calcium in preventing fracture

The majority of randomized controlled trials that investigated the effects of either calcium supplementation alone or combined calcium and vitamin D supplementation in older people have shown a reduction in fracture risk, as long as sufficient patient compliance (75-80%) was achieved [38,45,46]. In a study of 1460 western Australian women aged 70-85 years at baseline, where study participants received either 1200 mg/day calcium or placebo for 5 years, there was no overall effect in the intention to treat analysis [45]. However, a 30% reduction in any fracture risk was observed in the per protocol analysis in those taking more than 80% of the tablets (Fig. 1) [45]. The trials that failed to show benefit of calcium supplementation on fracture risk reduction mostly had methodological problems, such as confounding from hormone replacement therapy administered at the time of study [47], lack of evaluation of patient compliance [48] or under-powering of the study [47,48]. A metaanalysis that included 52,625 subjects from 17 trials with fracture as outcome showed that calcium treatment was associated with a 10% reduction and calcium in combination with vitamin D was associated with a 13% reduction in risk of fractures of all types [42]. This metaanalysis also found that the fracture risk reduction was significantly greater (24%) in trials in which the compliance rate was high and the treatment effect was better when the calcium dose \geq 1200 mg, and the vitamin D dose \geq 800 IU [42].

Eleven of the 17 trials were in women only, and the other 6 recruited both men and women. A subgroup study showed that the treatment effect was similar in trials of women alone and trials that included both men and women, with a risk reduction of 12% for both [42]. Thus calcium is equally important for fracture prevention in men and women.

Calcium and hip fracture risk

A meta-analysis of pooled cohort studies did not show an association between total calcium intake and hip fracture risk in either women or men [49]. In contrast, two meta-analyses of randomized controlled trials of calcium monotherapy, {one including four trials (n = 6504) [49] and the other including three trials (n = 5500women) [50]}, suggested that calcium supplementation was associated with a higher risk of hip fracture. The authors of the second meta-

Table 1							
Recommended	calcium	intakes	in	USA,	Australia	and	China.

USA		Australia		China	
Age group (years)	Recommended intake (mg/day)	Age group (yrs)	Recommended intake (mg/day)	Age group (years)	Recommended intake (mg/day)
1-3	EAR 500 RDA 700	1-3	EAR 360 RDI 500	1-3	AI 600
4-8	EAR 800 RDA 1,000	4-8	EAR 520 RDI 700	4–10	AI 800
9-13	EAR 1,100 RDA 1,300	9-11	EAR 800 RDI 1,000	11-14	AI 1,000
14-18	EAR 1,100 RDA 1,300	12-18	EAR 1,050 RDI 1,300	11-17	AI 1,000
Men 19–70 and Women 19-50	EAR 800 RDA1,000	Men 19–70 and	EAR 840 RDI 1,000	18-49	AI 800
Men > 70 and Women > 50	EAR 1,000 RDA 1,200	Men > 70 and Women > 50	EAR 1,100 RDI 1,300	>50	AI 1,000

Data source: USA [52], Australia [53] and China [54]. EAR: Estimated average requirement; RDA: Recommended dietary allowances; RDI: Recommended dietary intake; AI: Adequate intake.

analysis hypothesized that the increased risk of hip fracture could have resulted from suppressed periosteal expansion at the femoral neck with calcium intervention, as periosteal expansion normally provides mechanical compensation for bone mineral decline with ageing [50]. Nevertheless, intervention studies using both calcium and vitamin D have demonstrated significant reduction in hip fracture risk in older women [46,51]. As older people at high risk of hip fracture tend to have both low calcium intake and vitamin D deficiency, it is now widely agreed that calcium should be used in combination with vitamin D to prevent bone loss and fracture.

Meeting calcium requirement

The recommended calcium intakes for USA [52], Australia [53] and China [54] are summarized in Table 1. The variation in values may be due to cross-cultural differences, disparities in expert opinions, and uncertainty of data in some populations. Generally higher calcium intake is required during the growing period for the achievement of maximal peak bone mass, and in women after menopause (over 50 years old) and in men over 70 years old to prevent menopause and age-related bone loss.

Calcium intake in children and older adults

Low calcium intake is a widespread problem across countries and age groups.

Children and adolescents

A population-based survey showed that the mean calcium intake of adolescent American boys and girls are 1000 mg/day and 900 mg/day, respectively [55]. However, black children tend to have lower intakes. A longitudinal study of white and black American girls aged 9 to 18 years old using 3-day food record showed that the mean calcium intake was 825 and 644 mg/day for white and black girls, respectively, with the 50th percentile at 793 mg/day for white and 611 mg/day for black girls [56]. Calcium intake is even lower in Asian countries. The 2002 China National Nutrition and Health Survey (CNNHS) found that the daily calcium intakes were 376 mg for boys and 343 mg for girls aged 14–17 of years [57]. In addition, 70%–80% Chinese boys and girls of this age group had calcium intake <50% of the recommended intake (1000 mg/day) and only 3–4% met the recommended intake [57].

Older people

In America, less than 10% women aged <70 years and less than 1% women aged >70 years meet the calcium requirement through their diet. In men, only one in four have adequate calcium intake from diet.

In a longitudinal study of free-living older Australian women aged 70–85 years, the mean calcium intake ranged from 900 to 980 mg/day and more than 70% of the population did not achieve the Estimated Average Requirement of 1,100 mg/day [58]. Calcium intake is even lower in countries where dairy is not a staple food. In China, the 2002 China National Nutrition and Health Survey (CNNHS) showed that the average calcium intake was 439 mg/day for adults living in urban areas and 372 for those in rural areas [57]; these represent only about half of the recommended intake of 800–1000 mg/day [54].

Intestinal factors affecting intestinal calcium absorption

Milk and dairy products are good sources of calcium. Bony fish, legumes, certain nuts and fortified soy milk and breakfast cereals also contain smaller amounts of calcium. Calcium bioavailability depends on absorbability and the incorporation of absorbed calcium into bone. Therefore, both dietary factors influencing intestinal absorption and the excretion of calcium in urine play a role in calcium bioavailability [59]. Some food components, such as phytate in bran, most cereals, seeds and nuts, oxalate in spinach, rhubarb, walnuts and sorrel, and tannins in tea can form insoluble complexes with calcium, and thus reduce calcium intestinal absorption. A diet high in sodium could increase urinary calcium loss and lead to decreased calcium retention [59].

Lactose

In normal subjects, lactose increases calcium absorption from 22% to 36% [60]. However, in patients with lactose intolerance, lactose induces a reduction in calcium absorption by about 5% [60]. This may be due to the osmotic effects of lactose reducing the effective concentration of calcium within the bowel [61]. The connection between lactose intolerance and osteoporotic fracture would appear to be due to reduced calcium intake associated with avoidance of milk products [62,63].

Fiber

High fiber diets have been recommended for various benefits on the bowel and the cardiovascular system. Studies that have examined the effects of these diets on calcium consumption have not found any significant deleterious effects at moderate consumption of fibre containing foods [64]. However, calcium retention is reduced from 25% to 19% with high fibre intake [65].

Protein

In the past, excessive protein intake had been thought to lead to chronic metabolic acidosis which causes hypercalciuria and increased mineral dissolution [66]. However, some recent data suggest the effect of protein on calcium balance could be neutral as it increases gut calcium absorption [67]. Furthermore, it has been suggested that adequate protein intake may benefit the skeleton of older people by providing amino acids and increasing circulating insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I) [68,69]. The only long term dietary protein intervention study was a 2-year randomized controlled trial with 219 healthy ambulant women aged 70-80 years. Participants were randomized to either a high protein drink containing 30 g of whey protein or an isocaloric placebo drink containing 2.1 g protein (n = 110). At 2 years, the highprotein group had a marginally higher urinary calcium excretion and significantly higher IGF-I levels compared to the placebo group, but there was no significant difference between the two groups in change in bone mass or strength. This study showed that in protein-replete healthy ambulant women, 30 g of extra protein did not have beneficial or deleterious effects on bone mass or strength [70].

Achlorhydria

It has been shown that in achlorhydric individuals the absorption of calcium when administered as calcium carbonate is less than when administered as calcium citrate. This differential absorption is abolished if the calcium is taken with food [71]. In terms of preventing bone loss, calcium lactate gluconate has identical effects to milk powder that contains the same amount of calcium [36,72].

Calcium supplementation

Although obtaining sufficient calcium from diet is preferred, supplementation is needed when adequate calcium intake cannot be achieved with diet. A recent expert panel report has suggested that supplementation with calcium and vitamin D should be recommended in women



Fig. 2. The effect of calcium treatment compared with placebo on all atherosclerotic vascular disease hospitalisations and mortality outcomes over 5 and 9.5 years. The analyses utilized groups with the named baseline risk factor. Analyses adjusted for baseline age, calcium intake, compliance, cardiovascular disease, eGFR, diabetes, previous or current smoking and baseline cardiovascular medications unless that covariate was the subject of the analysis. eGFR refers to estimated glomerular function rate while ASVD refers to atherosclerotic vascular disease. (Reproduced from J Bone Miner Res. 2011;26: Page 39 [80] with permission of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research).

with osteoporosis, or at increased risk of osteoporosis i.e. aged over 65 years, BMD T-score less than -1, or proven calcium and/or vitamin D insufficiency [73]. The expert panel recommended that women at increased fracture risk should receive both calcium and vitamin D supplements, including 1000–1200 mg calcium (depending on dietary calcium intake) and 800 IU vitamin D daily [73]. It is recommended by the Institute of Medicine that the total calcium intake from diet and supplementation should not exceed the tolerable upper intake limit (UL) of 3,000 mg/day for children and adolescents aged 9–18 years, 2,500 mg/day for 19–50 year olds and 2,000 mg/day for those aged > 50 years [52].

Calcium from supplements is absorbed more efficiently when taken in doses less than 500 mg [74]. In the fasting state, calcium is better absorbed from calcium citrate than calcium carbonate, and calcium as carbonate is better absorbed when taken with food. Nevertheless, the Institute of Medicine has recommended taking calcium supplementation with foods to reduce the risk of developing kidney stone [52]. In addition, 500 mg calcium as citrate has been reported to have the equivalent effects of 1000 mg calcium as carbonate in suppressing parathyroid hormone and bone resorption; thus using calcium citrate supplement may be associated with fewer adverse effects and better long-term compliance [75].

Controversies on calcium supplementation and vascular disease risk

Recently, a secondary analysis of a calcium supplementation study in older New Zealand women [76] and a meta-analysis included 8016 men and women from five prospective calcium intervention studies [77] have raised the concern that calcium supplementation may increase the risk of myocardial infarction. A further meta-analysis included trial level data from 28,072 participants from nine studies using either calcium supplement alone or both calcium and vitamin D [78]. This meta-analysis concluded that supplementation with calcium alone or both calcium and vitamin D increased the risk of myocardial infarction by 24% and the composite of myocardial infarction or stroke by 15% [78]. However, carefully reviewing these three reports, we could see that the conclusions are dependent on studies which have compared multiple endpoints, conducted in heterogenous populations, and most of the time used less than ideal methods of ascertainment for vascular diseases. A recent report showed that in seven RCTs of calcium intervention, self-reported gastrointestinal adverse event rates were more common in participants receiving calcium and there was a higher error rate in the self-report of myocardial infarction in the calcium group [79]. The authors suggested that the higher error rate in the self-report of myocardial infarction in the calcium group could be due to increased functional gastrointestinal disorders associated with calcium supplementation mistaken for myocardial infarction [79]. It is also interesting to note that in the Women's Health Initiative (WHI), participants who were taking personal calcium supplements at randomisation, addition of calcium and vitamin D did not increase cardiovascular disease risk [78].

In contrast, in a study that used a more accurate method of vascular disease ascertainment, no association of calcium intervention and atherosclerotic vascular disease risk was found [45]. In this trial 1460 women aged 75.1 ± 2.7 years at baseline participated in a 5-year, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of calcium carbonate (1200 mg/day calcium or placebo) and were further followed up for an additional 4.5 years [45]. Complete verified atherosclerotic vascular hospitalization and mortality data were obtained using the Western Australia Data Linkage System hospitalization and mortality record. The calcium group did not have a higher risk of death or first-time hospitalisation from atherosclerotic vascular disease in either the 5-year RCT (multivariate-adjusted HR 0.938 95% CI 0.690-1.275) or during the 9.5 years of observational study (multivariate-adjusted HR 0.919 95% CI 0.737-1.146) (Fig. 2) [80]. Thus, this trial using a more accurate method of vascular disease ascertainment provides

compelling evidence that calcium supplementation of 1200 mg daily does not significantly increase the risk of atherosclerotic vascular disease in elderly women.

Conclusions

Osteoporosis and related fractures are important public health problems world-wide. Calcium intake influences peak bone mass achieved in early adulthood by influencing skeletal calcium retention during bone growth and plays a role in preventing bone loss and osteoporotic fractures in later life. Low calcium intake is a widespread problem across countries and age groups. Therefore, ensuring adequate calcium intake throughout lifetime is important for bone health and the prevention osteoporosis and related fractures.

References

- Baxter-Jones AD, Faulkner RA, Forwood MR, Mirwald RL, Bailey DA. Bone mineral accrual from 8 to 30 years of age: an estimation of peak bone mass. J Bone Miner Res 2011;26:1729–39.
- [2] Vatanparast H, Baxter-Jones A, Faulkner RA, Bailey DA, Whiting SJ. Positive effects of vegetable and fruit consumption and calcium intake on bone mineral accrual in boys during growth from childhood to adolescence: the University of Saskatchewan Pediatric Bone Mineral Accrual Study. Am J Clin Nutr 2005;82:700–6.
- [3] Zhu K, Greenfield H, Zhang Q, Du X, Ma G, Foo LH, et al. Growth and bone mineral accretion during puberty in Chinese girls: a five-year longitudinal study. J Bone Miner Res 2008;23:167–72.
- [4] Kalkwarf HJ, Khoury JC, Lanphear BP. Milk intake during childhood and adolescence, adult bone density, and osteoporotic fractures in US women. Am J Clin Nutr 2003;77:257–65.
- [5] Goulding A, Rockell JE, Black RE, Grant AM, Jones IE, Williams SM. Children who avoid drinking cow's milk are at increased risk for prepubertal bone fractures. J Am Diet Assoc 2004;104:250–3.
- [6] Johnston CC, Miller JZ, Slemenda CW, Reister TK, Hui S, Christian JC, et al. Calcium supplementation and increases in bone mineral density in children. N Engl J Med 1992;327:82–7.
- [7] Cadogan J, Eastell R, Jones N, Barker ME. Milk intake and bone mineral acquisition in adolescent girls: randomised, controlled intervention trial. BMJ 1997;315: 1255–60.
- [8] Du X, Zhu K, Trube A, Zhang Q, Ma G, Hu X, et al. School-milk intervention trial enhances growth and bone mineral accretion in Chinese girls aged 10–12 years in Beijing. Br J Nutr 2004;92:159–68.
- [9] Lee WT, Leung SS, Wang SH, Xu YC, Zeng WP, Lau J, et al. Double-blind, controlled calcium supplementation and bone mineral accretion in children accustomed to a low-calcium diet. Am J Clin Nutr 1994;60:744–50.
- [10] Dibba B, Prentice A, Ceesay M, Stirling DM, Cole TJ, Poskitt EM. Effect of calcium supplementation on bone mineral accretion in gambian children accustomed to a low-calcium diet. Am J Clin Nutr 2000;71:544–9.
- [11] Bonjour JP, Carrie AL, Ferrari S, Clavien H, Slosman D, Theintz G, et al. Calciumenriched foods and bone mass growth in prepubertal girls: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. J Clin Invest 1997;99:1287–94.
- [12] Rozen GS, Rennert G, Dodiuk-Gad RP, Rennert HS, Ish-Shalom N, Diab G, et al. Calcium supplementation provides an extended window of opportunity for bone mass accretion after menarche. Am J Clin Nutr 2003;78:993–8.
- [13] Winzenberg T, Shaw K, Fryer J, Jones G. Effects of calcium supplementation on bone density in healthy children: meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. BMJ 2006;333:775.
- [14] Huncharek M, Muscat J, Kupelnick B. Impact of dairy products and dietary calcium on bone-mineral content in children: results of a meta-analysis. Bone 2008;43: 312–21.
- [15] Bonjour JP, Chevalley T, Ammann P, Slosman D, Rizzoli R. Gain in bone mineral mass in prepubertal girls 3.5 years after discontinuation of calcium supplementation: a follow-up study. Lancet 2001;358:1208–12.
- [16] Dibba B, Prentice A, Ceesay M, Mendy M, Darboe S, Stirling DM, et al. Bone mineral contents and plasma osteocalcin concentrations of Gambian children 12 and 24 mo after the withdrawal of a calcium supplement. Am J Clin Nutr 2002;76:681–6.
- [17] Dodiuk-Gad RP, Rozen GS, Rennert G, Rennert HS, Ish-Shalom S. Sustained effect of short-term calcium supplementation on bone mass in adolescent girls with low calcium intake. Am | Clin Nutr 2005;81:168–74.
- [18] Zhu K, Zhang Q, Foo LH, Trube A, Ma G, Hu X, et al. Growth, bone mass, and vitamin D status of Chinese adolescent girls 3 y after withdrawal of milk supplementation. Am J Clin Nutr 2006;83:714–21.
- [19] Lee WT, Leung SS, Leung DM, Wang SH, Xu YC, Zeng WP, et al. Bone mineral acquisition in low calcium intake children following the withdrawal of calcium supplement. Acta Paediatr 1997;86:570–6.
- [20] Slemenda CW, Peacock M, Hui S, Zhou L, Johnston CC. Reduced rates of skeletal remodeling are associated with increased bone mineral density during the development of peak skeletal mass. J Bone Miner Res 1997;12:676–82.
- [21] Matkovic V, Goel PK, Badenhop-Stevens NE, Landoll JD, Li B, Ilich JZ, et al. Calcium supplementation and bone mineral density in females from childhood to young adulthood: a randomized controlled trial. Am J Clin Nutr 2005;81:175–88.

- [22] Braun M, Palacios C, Wigertz K, Jackman LA, Bryant RJ, McCabe LD, et al. Racial differences in skeletal calcium retention in adolescent girls with varied controlled calcium intakes. Am J Clin Nutr 2007;85:1657–63.
- [23] Bailey DA, Martin AD, McKay HA, Whiting S, Mirwald R. Calcium accretion in girls and boys during puberty: a longitudinal analysis. J Bone Miner Res 2000;15:2245–50.
- [24] Yin J, Zhang Q, Liu A, Du W, Wang X, Hu X, et al. Factors affecting calcium balance in Chinese adolescents. Bone 2010;46:162–6.
- [25] Jackman LA, Millane SS, Martin BR, Wood OB, McCabe GP, Peacock M, et al. Calcium retention in relation to calcium intake and postmenarcheal age in adolescent females. Am J Clin Nutr 1997;66:327–33.
- [26] Braun M, Martin BR, Kern M, McCabe GP, Peacock M, Jiang Z, et al. Calcium retention in adolescent boys on a range of controlled calcium intakes. Am J Clin Nutr 2006;84:414–8.
- [27] Wu L, Martin BR, Braun MM, Wastney ME, McCabe GP, McCabe LD, et al. Calcium requirements and metabolism in Chinese-American boys and girls. J Bone Miner Res 2010;25:1842–9.
- [28] Ito S, Ishida H, Uenishi K, Murakami K, Sasaki S. The relationship between habitual dietary phosphorus and calcium intake, and bone mineral density in young Japanese women: a cross-sectional study. Asia Pac J Clin Nutr 2011;20:411–7.
- [29] Nieves JW, Melsop K, Curtis M, Kelsey JL, Bachrach LK, Greendale G, et al. Nutritional factors that influence change in bone density and stress fracture risk among young female cross-country runners. PM R 2010;2:740–50 [quiz 794].
- [30] Nordin BE, Need AG, Steurer T, Morris HA, Chatterton BE, Horowitz M. Nutrition, osteoporosis, and aging. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1998;854:336–51.
- [31] Prince RL, Dick I, Garcia-Webb P, Retallack RW. The effects of the menopause on calcitriol and parathyroid hormone: Responses to a low dietary calcium stress test. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1990;70:1119–23.
- [32] Prince RL, Schiff I, Neer RM. Effects of transdermal estrogen replacement on parathyroid hormone secretion. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1990;71:1284–7.
- [33] Dick IM, Prince RL. Transdermal estrogen replacement does not increase calcitonin secretory reserve in postmenopausal women. Acta Endocrinol (Copenh) 1991;125:241–5.
- [34] Prince RL, MacLaughlin DT, Gaz RD, Neer RM. Lack of evidence for estrogen receptors in human and bovine parathyroid tissue. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1991;72:1226–8.
- [35] Prince RL. Counterpoint: estrogen effects on calcitropic hormones and calcium homeostasis. Endocr Rev 1994;15:301–9.
- [36] Prince R, Devine A, Dick I, Criddle A, Kerr D, Kent N, et al. The effects of calcium supplementation (milk powder or tablets) and exercise on bone density in postmenopausal women. J Bone Miner Res 1995;10:1068–75.
- [37] Prince RL, Dick I, Devine A, Price RI, Gutteridge DH, Kerr D, et al. The effects of menopause and age on calcitropic hormones: a cross-sectional study of 655 healthy women aged 35 to 90. J Bone Miner Res 1995;10:835–42.
- [38] Dawson-Hughes B, Harris SS, Krall EA, Dallal GE. Effect of calcium and vitamin D supplementation on bone density in men and women 65 years of age or older. N Engl J Med 1997;337:670–6.
- [39] Chevalley T, Rizzoli R, Nydegger V, Slosman D, Rapin C-H, Michel J-P, et al. Effects of calcium supplements on femoral bone mineral density and vertebral fracture rate in vitamin-D-replete elderly patients. Osteoporosis Int 1994;4:245–52.
- [40] Shea B, Wells G, Cranney A, Zytaruk N, Robinson V, Griffith L, et al. Meta-analyses of therapies for postmenopausal osteoporosis. VII. Meta-analysis of calcium supplementation for the prevention of postmenopausal osteoporosis. Endocr Rev 2002;23:552–9.
- [41] Riggs BL, O'Fallon WM, Muhs J, O'Connor MK, Kumar R, Melton J. Long-term effects of calcium supplementation on serum parathyroid hormone level, bone turnover, and bone loss in elderly women. J Bone Miner Res 1998;13:168–74.
- [42] Tang BM, Eslick GD, Nowson C, Smith C, Bensoussan A. Use of calcium or calcium in combination with vitamin D supplementation to prevent fractures and bone loss in people aged 50 years and older: a meta-analysis. Lancet 2007;370:657–66.
- [43] Reid IR, Ames R, Mason B, Reid HE, Bacon CJ, Bolland MJ, et al. Randomized controlled trial of calcium supplementation in healthy, nonosteoporotic, older men. Arch Intern Med 2008;168:2276–82.
- [44] Zhu K, Devine A, Dick IM, Wilson SG, Prince RL. Effects of calcium and vitamin D supplementation on hip bone mineral density and calcium-related analytes in elderly ambulatory Australian women: a five-year randomized controlled trial. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2008;93:743–9.
- [45] Prince RL, Devine A, Dhaliwal SS, Dick IM. Effects of calcium supplementation on clinical fracture and bone structure: results of a 5-year, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial in elderly women. Arch Intern Med 2006;166:869–75.
- [46] Chapuy MC, Arlot MF, Duboeuf F, Brun J, Crouzet B, Arnaud S, et al. Vitamin D3 and calcium to prevent hip fractures in elderly women. N Engl J Med 1992;327:1637–42.
- [47] Jackson RD, LaCroix AZ, Gass M, Wallace RB, Robbins J, Lewis CE, et al. Calcium plus vitamin D supplementation and the risk of fractures. N Engl J Med 2006;354:669–83.
- [48] Grant AM, Avenell A, Campbell MK, McDonald AM, MacLennan GS, McPherson GC, et al. Oral vitamin D3 and calcium for secondary prevention of low-trauma fractures in elderly people (Randomised Evaluation of Calcium Or vitamin D, RECORD): a randomised placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 2005;365:1621–8.
- [49] Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Dawson-Hughes B, Baron JA, Burckhardt P, Li R, Spiegelman D, et al. Calcium intake and hip fracture risk in men and women: a meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies and randomized controlled trials. Am J Clin Nutr 2007;86: 1780–90.
- [50] Reid IR, Bolland MJ, Grey A. Effect of calcium supplementation on hip fractures. Osteoporos Int 2008;19:1119–23.
- [51] Chapuy MC, Pamphile R, Paris E, Kempf C, Schlichting M, Arnaud S, et al. Combined calcium and vitamin D3 supplementation in elderly women: confirmation of reversal of secondary hyperparathyroidism and hip fracture risk: the Decalyos II study. Osteoporos Int 2002;13:257–64.

- [52] Institute of Medicine. Dietary Reference Intakes for Calcium and Vitamin D. Washington, DC: National Academy of Sciences; 2010.
- [53] National health and medical research council (Australia), new zealand, Ministry of Health., Australia, Dept. of Health and Ageing. Nutrient reference values for Australia and New Zealand : including recommended dietary intakes. Canberra, A.C.T: National Health and Medical Research Council; 2006.
- [54] Chinese Nutrition Society. Chinese DRIs. Beijing: Chinese Light Industry Publishing House; 2000.
- [55] Ervin R, Wang CY, Wright JD, Kennedy-Stephenson J. Dietary intake of selected minerals for the United States population: 1999–2000. National Center for Health Statistics, Hyattsville, MD: Advance data from Vital and Health Statistics; 2004.
- [56] Affenito SG, Thompson DR, Franko DL, Striegel-Moore RH, Daniels SR, Barton BA, et al. Longitudinal assessment of micronutrient intake among African-American and white girls: the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Growth and Health Study. J Am Diet Assoc 2007;107:1113–23.
- [57] Zhai F, Yang X, Ge K. Report of Chinese National Survey of Nutrition and Health in 2002, Dietary Intake. Beijing: People's Health Press; 2006.
- [58] Zhu K, Devine A, Suleska A, Tan CY, Toh CZ, Kerr D, et al. Adequacy and change in nutrient and food intakes with aging in a seven-year cohort study in elderly women. J Nutr Health Aging 2010;14:723–9.
- [59] Gueguen L, Pointillart A. The bioavailability of dietary calcium. J Am Coll Nutr 2000;19:1195–36S.
- [60] Cochet B, Jung A, Griessen M, Bartholdi P, Schaller P, Donath A. Effects of lactose on intestinal calcium absorption in normal and lactase-deficient subjects. Gastroenterology 1983;84:935–40.
- [61] Sheikh MS, Schiller LR, Fordtran JS. In vivo intestinal absorption of calcium in humans. Miner Electrolyte Metab 1990;16:130–46.
- [62] Jackson KA, Savaiano DA. Lactose maldigestion, calcium intake and osteoporosis in African-, Asian-, and Hispanic-Americans. J Am Coll Nutr 2001;20:198S–207S.
- [63] Honkanen R, Kroger H, Alhava E, Turpeinen P, Tuppurainen M, Saarikoski S. Lactose intolerance associated with fractures of weight-bearing bones in Finnish women aged 38–57 years. Bone 1997;21:473–7.
- [64] Wisker E, Nagel R, Tanudjaja TK, Feldheim W. Calcium, magnesium, zinc, and iron balances in young women: effects of a low-phytate barley-fiber concentrate. Am J Clin Nutr 1991;54:553–9.
- [65] Knox TA, Kassarjian Z, Dawson-Hughes B, Golner BB, Dallal GE, Arora S, et al. Calcium absorption in elderly subjects on high- and low-fiber diets: effect of gastric acidity. Am J Clin Nutr 1991;53:1480–6.
- [66] Barzel US, Massey LK. Excess dietary protein can adversely affect bone. J Nutr 1998;128:1051–3.

- [67] Kerstetter JE, O'Brien KO, Insogna KL. Dietary protein, calcium metabolism, and skeletal homeostasis revisited. Am J Clin Nutr 2003;78:584S–92S.
- [68] Schurch MA, Rizzoli R, Slosman D, Vadas L, Vergnaud P, Bonjour JP. Protein supplements increase serum insulin-like growth factor-I levels and attenuate proximal femur bone loss in patients with recent hip fracture. A randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled trial. Ann Intern Med 1998;128:801–9.
- [69] Heaney RP, McCarron DA, Dawson-Hughes B, Oparil S, Berga SL, Stern JS, et al. Dietary changes favorably affect bone remodeling in older adults. J Am Diet Assoc 1999;99:1228–33.
- [70] Zhu K, Meng X, Kerr DA, Devine A, Solah V, Binns CW, et al. The effects of a twoyear randomized, controlled trial of whey protein supplementation on bone structure, IGF-1, and urinary calcium excretion in older postmenopausal women. J Bone Miner Res 2011;26:2298–306.
- [71] Recker RR. Calcium absorption and achlorhydria. N Engl J Med 1985;313:70-3.
- [72] Devine A, Dick IM, Heal SJ, Criddle RA, Prince RL. A 4-year follow-up study of the effects of calcium supplementation on bone density in elderly postmenopausal women. Osteoporosis Int 1997;7:23–8.
- [73] Rizzoli R, Boonen S, Brandi ML, Burlet N, Delmas P, Reginster JY. The role of calcium and vitamin D in the management of osteoporosis. Bone 2008;42:246–9.
 [74] Harvey IA. Zobitz MM. Pak CY. Dose dependency of calcium absorption: a compar-
- [74] Harvey JA, Zobitz MM, Pak CY. Dose dependency of calcium absorption: a comparison of calcium carbonate and calcium citrate. J Bone Miner Res 1988;3:253–8.
- [75] Thomas SD, Need AG, Tucker G, Slobodian P, O'Loughlin PD, Nordin BE. Suppression of parathyroid hormone and bone resorption by calcium carbonate and calcium citrate in postmenopausal women. Calcif Tissue Int 2008;83:81–4.
- [76] Bolland MJ, Barber PA, Doughty RN, Mason B, Horne A, Ames R, et al. Vascular events in healthy older women receiving calcium supplementation: randomised controlled trial. BMJ 2008;336:262–6.
- [77] Bolland MJ, Avenell A, Baron JA, Grey A, MacLennan GS, Gamble GD, et al. Effect of calcium supplements on risk of myocardial infarction and cardiovascular events: meta-analysis. BMJ 2010;341:c3691.
- [78] Bolland MJ, Grey A, Avenell A, Gamble GD, Reid IR. Calcium supplements with or without vitamin D and risk of cardiovascular events: reanalysis of the Women's Health Initiative limited access dataset and meta-analysis. BMJ 2011;342: d2040.
- [79] Lewis J, Zhu K, Prince R. Adverse events from calcium supplementation: relationship to errors in myocardial infarction self-reporting in randomized controlled trials of calcium supplementation. J Bone Miner Res 2012;27:719–22.
- [80] Lewis JR, Calver J, Zhu K, Flicker L, Prince RL. Calcium supplementation and the risks of atherosclerotic vascular disease in older women: results of a 5-year RCT and a 4.5-year follow-up. J Bone Miner Res 2011;26:35–41.